





# Establishment of liver fibrosis animal model by inducing hepatic stellate cellspecific TGFβ1 using LRAT promoter

Jae Eun Lee

Department of Applied Life Science

The Graduate School, Yonsei University



# Establishment of liver fibrosis animal model by inducing hepatic stellate cellspecific TGFβ1 using LRAT promoter

Jae Eun Lee

Department of Applied Life Science

The Graduate School, Yonsei University



# Establishment of liver fibrosis animal model by inducing hepatic stellate cellspecific TGFβ1 using LRAT promoter

Directed by Professor Eunae Sandra Cho

The Master's Thesis

submitted to the Department of Applied Life Science,

the Graduate School of Yonsei University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

M.S in Applied Life Science

Jae Eun Lee

December 2022



This certifies that the Master's Thesis of Jae Eun Lee is approved.

Thesis Supervisor: Eunae Sandra Cho

Thesis Committee: Jong In Yook

Thesis Committee: Nam Hee Kim

The Graduate School

Yonsei University

December 2022



## 감사의 글

2 년 간의 석사과정을 돌아보며 감사한 마음을 글로 담아 보고자 합니다. 지난 학위 과정 동안 큰 가르침을 주시고 지도해주신 육종인 교수님께 감사드립니다. 교수님께서 몸소 보여주신 학문에 대한 열정을 통해 학문을 대하는 참된 연구자의 자세를 배울 수 있었습니다. 늘 따뜻한 조언으로 학위생활을 응원해주시고, 격려로 이끌어 주신 김현실 교수님, 처음 실험을 배울 때부터 현재까지 연구 기반을 다질 수 있도록 아낌없는 가르침을 주신 김남희 선생님, 학위 과정동안 함께 고민해주시고 대학원 졸업 이후의 진로에 대해 조언해주신 조은애산드라 교수님께 진심으로 감사드립니다.

실험적인 부분에 대해 세세하게 가르쳐 주시고, 실험실 생활 초반에 헤매던 제게 많은 도움을 주신 차소영 선생님, 실험에 대한 조언을 구할 때마다 항상 진지하게 같이 고민해주신 정철희 선생님, 도움을 청할 때마다 흔쾌히 나서 주셨던 송상현 선생님, 모르는 부분에 대해 같이 찾아 봐주시며 알려주셨던 윤준섭 선생님께도 감사의 말씀을 드립니다. 학위생활 전반에 크게 의지했고 함께 고생하신 송혜은 선생님, 사수로서 늘 많은 도움을 주셨던 황규호 선생님, 항상 반갑게 맞아 주시고 학위생활에 대한 고민을 함께 나눠 주셨던 엄조은 선생님과 박경희 선생님, 늘 공부하시는 모습으로 연구자로서 배울 점이 많았던 한다울 선생님 그리고 대학 시절부터 늘 아낌없이 조언해주시고 격려해 주셨던 양지혜 선생님께 감사드립니다.

그리고 부족함이 많은 큰 딸을 항상 믿어 주시고 묵묵히 응원해주시는 사랑하는 가족들에게 감사를 표합니다.

2022년 12월 이재은



# CONTENTS

CONTENTS ······ i
LIST OF FIGURES ······iii
LIST OF TABLES ······ iv
ABSTRACT ······ v
I. INTRODUCTION ······ 1
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS ······ 4
1. Plasmid DNA (pDNA) construction ······ 4
2. Cell culture and transfection
3. Lentivirus production and infection7
4. Western blotting ······ 8
5. Conditioned medium preparation
6. Quantitative real-time-PCR (qPCR) analysis and 3TP-lux reporter assay … 9
7. ELISA
8. Plasmid DNA injection of mice



9. Immunofluorescence staining and fluorescence imaging
10. Statistical analysis ······ 12
III. RESULTS
1. LRAT promoter vector construction and screening
2. HSC-specific operation of the newly constructed LRAT promoter
3. Lx2 cell-specific functional activity of TGF $\beta$ 1 induced by the LRAT promoter
4. Upregulation of fibrosis marker expression by TGF $\beta$ 1 stimulation induced by
LRAT promoter ····· 21
5. In vivo mouse liver fibrosis disease model driven by LRAT- TGFβ1 promoter
IV. DISCUSSION ······ 25
V. CONCLUSION 28
REFERENCES······ 29
ABSTRACT (IN KOREAN) ····································



# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Schematic diagram of the LRAT promoter vector constructs 5
Figure 2. Comparison of RFP fluorescence expression between LRAT promoters
Figure 3. Comparison of LRAT promoter activation level between HSC-originated
cell line and hepatocyte-originated cell lines 17
Figure 4. Comparison of functional activity of TGF $\beta$ 1 by LRAT promoter activation
between HSC-originated cell line and hepatocyte-originated cell lines
Figure 5. Expression of fibrosis-related markers by TGF $\beta$ 1 stimulation induced by
the LRAT promoter ····· 22
Figure 6. Effect of LRAT promoter expression and fibrosis induction in vivo



# LIST OF TABLES

 Table 1. Primer sequences used for quantitative real-time PCR
 10



### ABSTRACT

# Establishment of liver fibrosis animal model by inducing hepatic stellate cell-specific TGFβ1 using LRAT promoter

Jae Eun Lee

Department of Applied Life Science

The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Eunae Sandra Cho)

Liver fibrosis is a common consequence of chronic liver damage. It is a symptom in which scar tissue formation is induced as hepatic stellate cells (HSCs), activated by various inflammatory factors, such as cytokines, lose retinol and are converted into proliferative, fibrogenic, contractile myofibroblasts. Activated HSCs perpetuate their fibrogenic phenotype and the inflammatory process by the secretion of several paracrine and autocrine



factors, such as TGF $\beta$ 1, a key cytokine in the activation of HSCs. In addition, they secrete and deposit excessive amounts of extracellular matrix (ECM) which induces fibrosis. In the small intestine, retinyl esters are incorporated in chylomicrons and after transport through the circulation taken up by hepatocytes. In hepatocytes, they are converted to retinol and subsequent binding to retinol binding protein 4 (RBP4) stimulates the release of the retinol-RBP4 complex back to the circulation. Via an unknown mechanism, retinol is transferred to HSCs, re-esterified, and stored in lipid droplets. Quiescent HSCs store retinol as retinyl esters, by the action of lecithin retinol acyltransferase (LRAT), in large lipid droplets. Therefore, HSCs are key cells that induce liver fibrosis, and HSCs can be targeted with LRAT. In terms of retinol metabolism in the liver, LRAT can be used as a marker for HSCs because it is specifically present in large amounts in HSCs, and can be used to identify HSCs in a quiescent state in animal models. In this study, we selected the site with the highest expression among the LRAT promoters operating specifically in HSCs, developed a system in which TGF<sup>β1</sup> is expressed by LRAT promoter activation, and endeavored to establish a mouse disease model in which liver fibrosis is induced by TGF $\beta$ 1 by the developed system.

First, liver fibrosis induction vectors were constructed using the LRAT promoter. In the HSC-originated Lx2 cell line, the expression efficiency of the LRAT promoter was compared by size from the eC-terminal region, and LRAT-400, which showed the highest expression, was selected as the final promoter. The Tet-on system was designed to activate the LRAT promoter when treated with doxycycline, and a vector was constructed to



overexpress TGF $\beta$ 1 when the LRAT promoter was activated by fusion of the mutated TGF $\beta$ 1-2CS to the promoter. In the Lx2 cell lines, which originated from HSC, TGF $\beta$ 1 expression increased as the LRAT promoter was activated, but in HepG2 and Hep3B cell lines of general hepatocyte origin other than HSCs, the change in TGF $\beta$ 1 expression was non-significant.

When confirmed with the supernatant obtained after inducing the LRAT promoter in each cell line, there was no change in HepG2 and Hep3B, but in Lx2, 3TP-lux increased, and PAI-1, a well-known downstream target of TGF $\beta$ 1, also increased significantly. The same results were obtained when confirming the induction of fibrosis by TGF $\beta$ 1, and a significant increase in fibrosis markers was also shown exclusively in Lx2 cells. As a result of inducing the operation of the LRAT promoter in mouse animal experiments, TGF $\beta$ 1 expression was confirmed in the liver, and it was confirmed that fibrosis was induced by comparing the expression of alpha smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ -SMA).

This suggests a new method of producing a mouse liver fibrosis model that increases the induction of fibrosis by targeting HSCs. It is considered that it can be used as an effective animal model for screening fibrosis-inhibiting drugs.

Keywords: liver fibrosis, LRAT, hepatic stellate cell, TGF<sub>β</sub>1, mouse model



# Establishment of liver fibrosis animal model by inducing hepatic stellate cell-specific TGFβ1 using LRAT promoter

Jae Eun Lee

Department of Applied Life Science

The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Eunae Sandra Cho)

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Liver fibrosis results from a wound regeneration caused by acute or chronic damage to the liver due to various causes, such as chemicals, viruses, and metabolic abnormalities. Acutely damaged hepatocytes are replaced by newly generated hepatocytes, and the accumulation of extracellular matrix (ECM) is insignificant, but in the case of chronic and repeatedly damaged hepatocytes, they are replaced with ECM, such as collagen, to form



scar tissue (Bataller and Brenner 2005). During this process, hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) are activated by various types of cytokines secreted by Kupffer cells that phagocytize damaged hepatocytes and are converted into myofibroblasts, playing a pivotal role in liver fibrosis (Lee and Friedman 2011; Wu and Zern 2000; Zhang et al. 2016).

Transforming growth factor beta (TGF $\beta$ ) is the cytokine that most strongly influences liver fibrosis and contributes to all stages of liver disease progression, from early liver injury at the level of inflammation and fibrosis to cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Among the three isoforms of TGF $\beta$ , TGF $\beta$ 1 is the most extensively studied in liver fibrosis and is known to be a key factor in chronic liver disease (Dewidar et al. 2015). TGF $\beta$ 1 not only induces direct damage to hepatocytes but also induces HSC activation and ECM deposition, which are critical steps in the wound-healing response of damaged liver tissue (Kanzler et al. 1999).

In general, quiescent HSCs in normal liver tissue convert vitamin A (retinol) to a retinyl esters by the action of lecithin retinol acyltransferase (LRAT) and then store the retinyl esters in large cytoplasmic lipid droplets (Lee and Jeong 2012; Zolfaghari and Ross 2000). About 95% of the vitamin A absorbed by the liver is stored in HSCs in this way (Blaner et al. 2009; Ross and Zolfaghari 2004). In terms of retinol metabolism in the liver, LRAT is specifically present in HSCs in large amounts, so it can be used as a marker to identify quiescent HSCs in animal models (Mederacke et al. 2013; Nagatsuma et al. 2009).

Numerous studies have been conducted to inhibit fibrosis and recover liver function,



and various anti-fibrotic drugs have been developed, and there is a growing demand for the development of effective and standardized liver fibrosis animal models capable of screening for antifibrotic drugs (Koyama et al. 2016; Liedtke et al. 2013). Various types of animal models exist depending on the mechanism inducing liver fibrosis. These include chemical drug-induced models, such as carbon tetrachloride (CCl<sub>4</sub>), thioacetamide, as well as the diet metabolism-induced model, and the surgical bile duct ligation model. However, there is still no standard therapy for liver fibrosis are still lacking (Weiler-Normann, Herkel, and Lohse 2007).

A major goal of current experimental research is to develop an optimal liver fibrosis model that reliably recapitulates the critical hallmarks of fibrosis (Bao et al. 2021). In mice, the pathogenesis or aspect of liver disease is different from that in humans, and since liver diseases do not occur in mice as much as in humans, creating conditions like those in humans is the key to establishing a mouse model (Jiang et al. 2020). Transgenic mouse models of liver fibrosis have been actively researched in recent years, enabling the functions and changes occurring in the fibrotic liver to be confirmed at the genetic level (Delire, Starkel, and Leclercq 2015; Faccioli et al. 2022; Popov and Schuppan 2009).

Taking advantage of the fact that HSCs are central to the development of liver fibrosis and can be targeted with LRAT, in this study, we proposed a new method for the transgenic mouse model of liver fibrosis disease that utilizes the LRAT promoter to induce HSC activation by TGFβ1.



#### **II. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 1. Plasmid DNA (pDNA) construction

LRAT promoters were obtained from genomic DNA (gDNA) isolated from NCTC 1469 cells (ATCC, CLL-9.1), a murine liver cell line. The gDNA of NCTC 1469 cells was extracted using the QIAamp® DNA Mini Kit (QIAGEN, #51304), and isolated according to the manufacturer's protocol. The LRAT region in gDNA was amplified by PCR, and four types of LRAT promoter fragments were obtained by the second round of PCR. Each DNA fragments were amplified 28 cycles under the following PCR conditions: 94°C for 45 sec, 58°C for 45 sec, 72°C for 2 min. Four LRAT promoters were constructed with different lengths of 1850, 1400, 900, and 400 bp from the N-terminal of the mouse LRAT gene (-1850, -1400, -900, -400 to +160), respectively. The 5'-primer used for the second PCR included a *Bam*HI restriction site, and the 3'-primer was designed to include the promoter 120 bp in front of the exon in the mouse LRAT gene and included an *Xba*I restriction site.

LRAT promoter vectors were constructed with the doxycycline-inducible lentiviral vector named pCW57-RFP-P2A-MCS (Addgene #78933) as a backbone. LRAT promoter fragments were inserted into the pCW57-RFP-P2A-MCS vector digested by *Xba*I and *Bam*HI (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA), removing the hPGK promoter and puroR. Subsequently, 1.2-kb modified TGFβ1 cDNA with HA tagging was ligated to the



*MluI/Sal*I restriction site in front of the LRAT promoter region of the construct. The modified TGF $\beta$ 1 cDNA has two cysteines at positions 223 and 225 mutated to serine, and these mutations primarily result in the expression of biologically active TGF $\beta$ 1.

Finally, to make the LRAT promoter-dependent and doxycycline-induced vector more specific, the final vector structure was generated by reversing the direction of the entire reverse tetracycline-dependent transactivator (rtTA) of the tetracycline (Tet-on) system fused with the LRAT promoter. All constructed vectors were verified by Sanger sequencing and restriction enzyme digestion. A schematic diagram of the constructed LRAT promoter vector is shown below (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Schematic diagram of the LRAT promoter vector constructs.



#### 2. Cell culture and transfection

Human HSC cell line, Lx2 was cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM) with GlutaMax<sup>™</sup> (Gibco,10569010) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Gibco) and 1% (v/v) penicillin/streptomycin (P/S; BioWhittaker). Human HCC cell lines HepG2 and Hep3B were cultured in minimal essential medium (MEM) with EBSS, L-glutamine (HyClone, cytiva), 10% FBS, 1% P/S. HepG2 cell lines were maintained on plates coated with ECM (G422, Applied Biological Materials). Both the A549 cell line stabilized to express 3TP-lux as a reporter cell line and the HEK293 cell line for lentivirus production were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% P/S. All cells were cultured in a humidified incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, at 37°C.

To compare the expression of LRAT promoter vectors, Lx2 cells were transfected with 1µg of each LRAT promoter vector and 50 ng of Green fluorescent protein (GFP) as a transfection control in 6-well plates. Transfection was performed with Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen, 11668-019) according to the manufacturer's protocol. After 16 h of transfection, 5 µg/ml of doxycycline was treated for 24 h, and the medium was replaced with fresh medium. The expression rate of the doxycycline-induced LRAT promoter was imaged with Red fluorescent protein (RFP) using a fluorescence microscope and analyzed using the ImageJ program downloaded from NIH (<u>https://imagej.nih.gov/ij/</u>). Each fluorescence image was quantified by averaging the fluorescence intensity of three or more



#### 3. Lentivirus production and infection

HEK293 cells were seeded with antibiotic-free DMEM in 6-well plates 24 h before transfection. Cells were transfected with pMD.2G and psPAX2 packaging vectors and finally, the selected lentiviral vector, pCW57-RFP-P2A-reverse-rTet-mTGF $\beta$ 1(2CS)-HA-LRAT-400. As the transfection reagent, Lipofectamine 2000 was used, (see section 2), and transfection was performed according to the manufacturer's protocol. The medium was replaced the next day. The lentivirus-containing supernatants were harvested 48 h after the transfection and centrifuged briefly (2000 rpm for 5 min) to remove cells and debris. Lentiviral supernatants were concentrated with the Lenti-X Concentrator (Clontech, 631231) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

The concentrated lentivirus pellet was re-suspended in fresh medium and infected with Lx2, HepG2, and Hep3B cell lines with polybrene, respectively. The virus infection was verified by using pLL3.7-dsRed as a positive control for lentivirus transduction. After stabilizing the cells through several passages, Lx2, HepG2 and Hep3B-LRAT-400 cell lines were treated with doxycycline (0, 5  $\mu$ g/ml) in 6-well plates for 72 h to induce the LRAT promoter. The expression level of the LRAT promoter according to the origin of the cell line was imaged with RFP using a fluorescence microscope.



#### 4. Western blotting

Doxycycline was treated for 72 h, then Lx2, HepG2 and Hep3B-LRAT-400 stable cell lines were washed twice with cold PBS and lysed with 1% Triton X-100 lysis buffer (50 mM Tris pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100). Cell lysates were scraped and incubated on ice for 15 min. After the incubation, cell lysates were vortexed briefly and then centrifuged at 13,200 rpm for 15 min at 4°C. The cleared supernatants were transferred to a new tube. Each cell lysate was quantified by the BCA protein assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific, 23225), and 10  $\mu$ g of each was sampled in 5X sample buffer according to the quantification, boiled at 100°C for 10 min, and stored on ice. All samples were loaded and separated on 15% SDS-PAGE gel and transferred to the nitrocellulose membrane (Whatman). Membranes were blocked with 5% skim milk for 1 h at room temperature and incubated with the primary antibody for 3 h at room temperature, followed by the secondary antibody for 1 h at room temperature. Expression of each LRAT promoter was compared with TGF $\beta$  (Cell Signaling, #3711S), and actin (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Sc-47778) was used as a loading control. For detection, WEST SAVE (AB Frontier, LF-QC0101) was used and developed with CP-BU Medical X-ray Film Blue (AGFA).

#### 5. Conditioned medium preparation

To obtain conditioned medium, Lx2, HepG2, and Hep3B-LRAT-400 cell lines were seeded in 6-well plates and cultured overnight. After the cells had completely adhered to



the plate, the medium was replaced, doxycycline (0, 5  $\mu$ g/ml) was treated, followed by incubation for 72 h, and the supernatant was harvested. The harvested conditioned medium was centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 3 min to remove cell debris, and the supernatant was transferred to a new tube. The conditioned medium was analyzed by TGF $\beta$ 1 enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and 3TP-lux reporter assay.

#### 6. Quantitative real-time-PCR (qPCR) analysis and 3TP-lux reporter assay

Each RNA was extracted with TRIzol<sup>TM</sup> reagent (Invitrogen, 15596026) according to the manufacturer's protocol. cDNA was synthesized from 1 µg of RNA using CycleScript RT PreMix (dT20, Bioneer). qPCR was performed using SYBR<sup>TM</sup> Green Mix on the Applied Biosystems StepOne detection system. Each  $\Delta Ct$  value was analyzed by normalizing to GAPDH in triplicate samples. Primer specificity was confirmed by melting curve analysis after qPCR reactions. Information on qPCR primers is provided in Table 1.

For the 3TP-lux reporter assay, the A549-3TP-lux-MODC stable cell line was seeded in 12-well plates the day before, and conditioned media were harvested (see section 5) and treated with normal media at a 1:1 ratio for 16 h. As a positive control, 1 ng of rhTGF $\beta$  was treated with normal media and compared with the results in conditioned media. Luciferase activity was measured using the Luciferase Assay System (Promega, #E1500) according to the manufacturer's protocol. All results were analyzed as the average of triplicate experiments.



#### Table 1. Primer sequences used for quantitative real-time PCR.

Genes	Forward	Reverse
TGF\$1	CGGCAGCTGTACATTGACTT	TCCAGGCTCCAAATGTAGGG
PAII	CAAGCAGCTATGGGATTCAAG	GCTGATCTCATCCTTGTTCCA
ACTA2	CTGCTGAGCGTGAGATTGTC	TCAAGGGAGGATGAGGATGC
Fibronectin	TGGCACTGATGAAGAACCCT	TGCCTCCACTATGACGTTGT
Collal	TGACCTCAAGATGTGCCACT	ACCAGTCTCCATGTTGCAGA
GAPDH	CAATGACCCCTTCATTGACC	TTGATTTTGGAGGGATCTCG

#### 7. ELISA

To quantify and compare secreted TGFβ1, the content of TGFβ1 in conditioned medium obtained as described above (section 5) was determined by Human TGFβ1 Quantikine ELISA (R&D Systems, DB100B) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The results were analyzed as the average of triplicate experiments.

#### 8. Plasmid DNA injection of mice

All animal experiments were conducted in accordance with the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Yonsei University and approved by the Animal Care



Committee of Yonsei University School of Dental Sciences. Male BALB/c nude mice (9week-old ;Nara Biotech) were used for plasmid tail vein injection to induce liver fibrosis. Mice were divided into three groups according to the control group without DNA injection and doxycycline administration after DNA injection. Plasmids were amplified for *in vivo* injection with Plasmid Extraction Maxi Plus Kit (Favorgen, FAPMX 020) to obtain high concentrations of DNA. The injection solution was prepared by diluting 20 µg of pDNA in 200 µl of PBS, and tail vein injection was performed on three mice per group. After the injections, in the experimental group, 100 µg of doxycycline was intraperitoneally injected twice a day for 1 week, and then 100 µg of doxycycline was injected once a day for 1 month.

All mice were sacrificed 1 month after DNA injection, and livers were harvested from each individual and stored in a deep freezer. Frozen liver tissues were prepared as frozen sections using a cryomicrotome (Lecia Biosystems, CM1860). After setting the cryomicrotome to - 20°C, frozen liver tissues were embedded with Tissue-Tek® O.C.T. Compound (Sakura, 4583) in the mold. After removing the excess of the frozen O.C.T. compound with a blade, the frozen tissue was sectioned to a thickness of 8 µm. Frozen section slides were serially sectioned with a cryomicrotome.

The prepared frozen section slides were immediately fixed in 70% ethanol, and observed with a fluorescence microscope for the expression of RFP by the LRAT promoter, and stained with TGFβ1 and alpha-smooth muscle actin by immunofluorescence staining.



#### 9. Immunofluorescence staining and fluorescence imaging

Frozen section slides were incubated for 1 h at room temperature in PBS containing 5% goat serum and 0.1% Triton X-100 buffer for blocking. Afterward, primary antibodies (anti-HA, anti- $\alpha$ -SMA) diluted in PBS containing 1% goat serum and 0.1% Triton X-100 were bound overnight at 4°C. After washing thrice with PBS, the secondary antibody (anti-rabbit-Alexa Fluor-594) diluted in the same condition was bound for 30 min at room temperature in the dark. After washing the secondary antibody with PBS, tissues were mounted with a mounting solution containing DAPI (ProLong<sup>TM</sup> Diamond Antifade Mountant with DAPI, Invitrogen, P36962). Fluorescence was monitored using confocal microscopy (Zeiss LSM700). The antibodies used in the experiment were as follows. HA (901501, BioLegend),  $\alpha$ -SMA (ab124964, abcam)

#### 10. Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed with Prism 9.4.1 software (GraphPad). All statistical analyzes of qPCR, reporter assay, and TGF $\beta$ 1 ELISA assay were performed by one-way ANOVA; data are presented as mean ± standard deviation (SD). A *P*-value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant (\*\*\*\*, *P* < 0.0001, \*\*\*, *P* < 0.001, \*\*\*, *P* < 0.01).



#### **III. RESULTS**

#### 1. LRAT promoter vector construction and screening

Expression of vectors constructed with 1850, 1400, 900, and 400 bp from the Cterminal region of the LRAT promoter was compared by RFP fluorescence in the Lx2 cell line of human HSC origin. All groups were co-transfected with GFP as a control for the transfection of each vector, and RFP was expressed as the LRAT promoter. Expressions were compared by the number of particles of RFP per GFP. Comparing the expression rate of RFP itself, LRAT-400 showed the highest expression rate, and the expression of RFP per GFP was also highest in LRAT-400. Comparing the shape and growth of each cell in the brightfield image, the cell growth was the lowest in LRAT-400, which had the highest RFP intensity due to the influence of TGF $\beta$ 1 induced by the LRAT promoter (Figure 2a). Based on the above results, LRAT-400 was selected as the final promoter.

To increase the expression efficiency of the LRAT promoter, reverse TetR and LRAT promoter were cloned in the opposite direction. By comparing this with the conventional type of vector, an experiment was conducted to compare the LRAT promoter expression rate with RFP fluorescence intensity. As a result, RFP expression was measured to be higher in the vector that changed the direction of the entire promoter than in the conventional vector (Figure 2b). Through this, the reverse-rTetR-LRAT-400 vector was determined as the final form.





Figure 2. Comparison of RFP fluorescence expression between LRAT promoters.

Schematic diagrams of the LRAT promoter inducing TGF $\beta$ 1-2CS consisting of a Tet-on



system are placed on top of each. (a) Using a fluorescence microscope, expression rates according to the LRAT promoter site (-1850, -1400, -900, -400) were compared with the RFP intensity and normalized to GFP as the transfection control (left). LRAT promoter expression ratios were quantified using ImageJ (right). Statistical significance compared to each promoter was indicated by \*\*\*\*, P < 0.0001 by one-way ANOVA. (b) Expression rates between LRAT-400 and reverse-LRAT-400 were compared as described in (a). Statistical significance compared to each promoter was indicated by \*\*\*\*, P < 0.001 by one-way indicated by \*\*\*\*, P < 0.001 by paired *t*-test.



#### 2. HSC-specific operation of the newly constructed LRAT promoter

LRAT is known to be involved in retinol metabolism in mouse and human liver tissues and is exclusively expressed in HSCs. Therefore, as a control, HepG2 and Hep3B, which are non-HSC-derived hepatocytes, were compared with the HSC-originated Lx2 cell line. To confirm the effect of the vector (section 1), three cell lines (Lx2, HepG2, Hep3B) were infected with the lentivirus produced with reverse-rTetR-LRAT-400 vector with high expression efficiency to construct a stable cell line. Then, the LRAT promoter was induced with doxycycline, and the difference in TGF $\beta$ 1 expression among the three cell lines was confirmed by fluorescence imaging, western blot analysis, TGF $\beta$ 1 transcript level, and TGF $\beta$ 1 ELISA (Figure 3). The activation level of the LRAT promoter for each cell line was confirmed by RFP using a fluorescence microscope, and western blotting was performed with TGF $\beta$ 1 antibody in the cell lysates. TGF $\beta$ 1 ELISA was performed with the supernatant to quantitatively compare the amount of secreted TGF $\beta$ 1 mature form.

As a result, as the LRAT promoter operated in the HSC-derived Lx2 cell line, the expression of RFP was significantly increased compared to the other two cell lines (Figure 3.a). Additionally, the expression of TGF $\beta$ 1 in cell lysates was specifically increased only in the Lx2 cell line (Figure 3b). As expected, in the quantitative comparison of TGF $\beta$ 1 transcript level and secreted TGF $\beta$ 1, there was no significant difference in expression in HepG2 and Hep3B, which are derived from non-HSC hepatocytes, but there was a dramatic and significant increase in Lx2 cell line compared to controls (Figure 3c, d). Thus, it was confirmed that the final form of LRAT-400 promoter acts specifically in HSCs.





Figure 3. Comparison of LRAT promoter activation level between HSC-originated cell line and hepatocyte-originated cell lines.

(a-d) LRAT promoter induced by doxycycline activity was compared in three cell lines in which the LRAT-400 promoter was transduced with lentivirus. (a) Comparison of RFP fluorescence intensity. (b) Western blot shows TGFβ1 expressed in each cell line. The



TGF $\beta$ 1 monomer represents the size of the secreted TGF $\beta$ 1 monomer. (c) Concentration of extracellular secreted TGF $\beta$ 1 measured by TGF $\beta$ 1 ELISA. Statistical significance for the effect of LRAT promoter induction in each cell line was indicated by \*\*\*\*, *P* < 0.0001 by one-way ANOVA. (d) Relative TGF $\beta$ 1 transcript level. Statistical significance for the effect of LRAT promoter induction in each cell line was indicated by \*\*\*\*, *P* < 0.0001 by one-way ANOVA.



#### 3. Lx2 cell-specific functional activity of TGFβ1 induced by the LRAT promoter

In three cell lines (Lx2, HepG2, Hep3B) stabilized after transduction of the LRAT promoter vector with lentivirus, the degree of functional expression of TGFβ1 in the supernatant obtained after inducing the LRAT promoter was evaluated by 3TP-lux reporter assay and comparison of PAI-1 transcript level. Experiments were conducted using the A549-3TP-lux stable cell line, and analysis was performed by treating A549-3TP-lux cells with conditioned media obtained from Lx2, HepG2, and Hep3B-LRAT-400 stable cell lines for 16 h, respectively (Figure 4a).

As a result, 3TP-lux reporter activity and PAI-1 transcript level increased as the LRAT promoter operated exclusively in the Lx2 cell line, identical to the results of the previous experiment. Similarly, in HepG2 and Hep3B, there were no significant changes in 3TP-lux reporter or PAI-1 transcript levels by doxycycline (Figure 4b, c). This indicates that as the LRAT promoter operates, TGF $\beta$ 1, which was fused with the LRAT-400 promoter vector, is not only expressed but functional.





Figure 4. Comparison of functional activity of TGFβ1 by LRAT promoter activation between HSC-originated cell line and hepatocyte-originated cell lines.

(a) Schematic diagram showing the conditioned medium production and transfer process. (b) 3TP-lux reporter activity by the operation of the LRAT promoter induced by doxycycline in each stable cell line. rhTGF $\beta$ 1 was used as a positive control. Statistical significance for the effect of LRAT promoter induction in each cell line was indicated by \*\*\*\*, *P* < 0.0001 by one-way ANOVA. (c) Relative PAI-1 transcript level. Statistical significance for the effect of LRAT promoter induction in each cell line was indicated by \*\*\*\*, *P* < 0.0001 by one-way ANOVA.



# 4. Upregulation of fibrosis marker expression by TGFβ1 stimulation induced by LRAT promoter

TGF $\beta$  is a cytokine activated in fibrotic diseases and is well-known as a key mediator of the fibrotic process (Desmouliere 1995; Meng, Nikolic-Paterson, and Lan 2016). Therefore, tissue fibrosis progressed due to TGF $\beta$  induction, and activation was observed and studied in several fibrosis animal models and clinical data. TGF $\beta$  plays a critical role in the conversion of fibroblasts to myofibroblasts in fibrotic tissue, and it is known that the expression of fibrosis markers is up-regulated in response. (Walton, Johnson, and Harrison 2017).

Based on this, the induction of fibrosis by TGF $\beta$ 1 overexpressed from the LRAT promoter constructed in this study was confirmed by qPCR. Three cell lines (Lx2, HepG2, Hep3B) stabilized to express the LRAT promoter vector were treated with 5 µg/µl of doxycycline for 72 h to sufficiently induce the operation of the LRAT promoter. Afterward, transcript levels for  $\alpha$ -SMA, fibronectin, and collagen type 1, which are the most well-known fibrosis markers, were compared for each cell line. The LRAT promoter was also activated specifically for the Lx2 cell line, and as a result of TGF $\beta$ 1 expression, fibrosis markers were significantly increased in the Lx2 cell line. Consistent with the results of the previous experiment, there were no significant changes in HepG2 and Hep3B (Figure 5).



а



Figure 5. Expression of fibrosis-related markers by TGFβ1 stimulation induced by the LRAT promoter.

Relative  $\alpha$ -SMA, fibronectin, and collagen type 1 transcript levels. rhTGF $\beta$ 1 was used as a positive control. Statistical significance for the effect of LRAT promoter induction in each cell line was indicated by \*\*\*\*, P < 0.0001; \*\*\*, P < 0.001; \*\*\*, P < 0.01 by one-way ANOVA.



#### 5. In vivo mouse liver fibrosis disease model induced by the LRAT promoter

Next, we injected pDNA into BALB/c nude mice via the tail vein and observed the expression and functioning of the LRAT promoter vector *in vivo*. After injecting the LRAT promoter vector, doxycycline was injected intraperitoneally for 1 month to induce the activity of the LRAT promoter in the vector. At 5 weeks after DNA injection, mice were sacrificed, and livers were harvested. The LRAT promoter operation was confirmed by comparing the RFP intensity by fluorescence imaging of slides prepared by frozen sectioning of liver tissue. As a result of comparing RFP expression in liver tissue, it was observed that RFP was expressed only in the doxycycline-injected group, and the LRAT promoter vector was observed to work well *in vivo* after the tail vein-injected pDNA was introduced into the liver (Figure 6a).

Next, by observing the expression level and co-localization of TGF $\beta$ 1 and  $\alpha$ -SMA in mouse liver tissues, it was confirmed whether TGF $\beta$ 1 secreted by the LRAT promoter directly induced fibrosis. Frozen liver tissue was serially sectioned, and immunofluorescence was performed on adjacent tissue slides with TGF $\beta$ 1-tagged HA and  $\alpha$ -SMA antibodies, respectively. As a result, it was observed that TGF $\beta$ 1 was highly expressed in doxycycline-positive (Dox+) tissues, and  $\alpha$ -SMA was expressed in the same region (Figure 6b). In Dox+ tissues,  $\alpha$ -SMA was not confined to the perivascular area but also appeared in the TGF $\beta$ 1-expressed region, which is interpreted as a result of fibrosis induction by TGF $\beta$ 1 secreted by the operation of the LRAT promoter.





Figure 6. Effect of LRAT promoter expression and fibrosis induction in vivo.

(a) Comparison of the operation of LRAT promoter vectors *in vivo* by RFP intensity. (b) *In vivo* expression of  $\alpha$ -SMA and HA-tagged TGF $\beta$ 1 by immunofluorescence. Co-localization between the TGF $\beta$ 1 expression site and the  $\alpha$ -SMA-induced site was confirmed on the serial section slide.



#### **IV. DISCUSSION**

As the global prevalence of liver disease continues to increase over the decades (Williams 2006), a number of prior studies have been conducted to prevent the progression of chronic hepatitis to cirrhosis, an irreversible condition. Most of the causes of death from liver disease are known to be due to advanced complications after HCC or liver cirrhosis (Byass 2014). Therefore, suppressing the progression of the disease in the process of hepatic fibrosis at a reversible level is a key factor. From studies on the mechanism of liver fibrosis, it has been found that activated HSCs are at the center of the fibrotic process, and research on the development of antifibrotic drugs that block the fibrotic process by inhibiting the activity of HSCs is actively underway (Kisseleva and Brenner 2021; Ray 2014).

Animal models using various etiologies of liver fibrosis have been developed to support the analysis of liver fibrosis mechanisms and molecular biological understanding. Animal models that perfectly match the morphology of liver fibrosis in humans have been limited in their implementation so far. Even so, the gap is closing with the development of fibrosis models in various pathways, such as hepatotoxicity, autoimmunity, and metabolic problems (Weiler-Normann, Herkel, and Lohse 2007). In particular, studies using transgenic mouse models that induce genetic defects or overexpression of specific genes are being actively conducted.



The transgenic mouse model is a model for precisely analyzing the function of the gene to be transformed *in vivo* and more accurately realizing the disease state in humans. However, its disadvantages are that it takes considerable time to build an experimental model and requires a lot of financial investment (Doyle et al. 2012; Lampreht Tratar, Horvat, and Cemazar 2018).

In this study, we developed a transgenic mouse model production system that causes liver fibrosis *in vivo* by inducing HSC-activation by TGF $\beta$ 1 using the LRAT promoter. Based on the lentiviral vector with the Tet-on system, a model system was established to selectively induce fibrosis. In addition, a site showing the highest expression among HSCspecific LRAT promoters was selected, and vectors were cloned to express an active TGF $\beta$ 1 mutant by the LRAT promoter. Ultimately, this system targeted HSCs, key cells in inducing liver fibrosis, with the LRAT promoter to maximize the effect of inducing liver fibrosis.

In addition, TGF $\beta$ 1-2CS mutations, which generate bioactive TGF $\beta$ 1 without an acid activation process and make it constitutively active, are fused to the vector so that HSCs are continuously stimulated by TGF $\beta$ 1. TGF $\beta$ 1-2CS(C223S/C225S) mutants containing two-point mutations from cysteine to serine prevent latency-associated peptide (LAP) from binding to the mature TGF  $\beta$ 1 dimer , allowing it to initiate downstream signaling immediately after expression (Brunner et al. 1989; Hall et al. 2010; Samuel et al. 1992).

Summarizing the above results, the LRAT promoter was activated *in vitro*, specifically for the HSC-derived Lx2 cell line, and fibrosis was induced by TGFβ1 expressed from the



LRAT promoter vector. In an *in vivo* model, it was also shown that fibrosis was induced in the liver by the LRAT promoter system. In this study, the LRAT promoter system was induced *in vivo* by direct injection of plasmid DNA. In case of injecting lentivirus with this system, it is expected that the expression efficiency *in vivo* can be further increased. The transgenic modeling system using the LRAT promoter vector could be simple and more efficient than the general transgenic mouse model system, suggesting new methods and applications in liver fibrosis research.



#### V. CONCLUSION

The LRAT promoter vector that works specifically in HSCs was constructed, and its function was confirmed *in vitro*. TGF $\beta$ 1-2CS mutated to secrete the mature form of TGF $\beta$ 1 was fused to a vector to construct a system that induces fibrosis by directly stimulating HSCs with TGF $\beta$ 1. This study proposes a new approach to the liver fibrosis mouse model, and it is thought that the LRAT-TGF $\beta$ 1 promoter method can be used as an effective animal model for screening fibrosis inhibitory drugs.



### REFERENCES

- Bao YL, Wang L, Pan HT, Zhang TR, Chen YH, Xu SJ, et al.: Animal and Organoid Models of Liver Fibrosis. *Front Physiol* 12:666138, 2021.
- Bataller R, Brenner DA: Liver fibrosis. J Clin Invest 115(2):209-218, 2005.
- Blaner WS, O'Byrne SM, Wongsiriroj N, Kluwe J, D'Ambrosio DM, Jiang H, et al.: Hepatic stellate cell lipid droplets: a specialized lipid droplet for retinoid storage. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1791(6):467-473, 2009.
- Brunner AM, Marquardt H, Malacko AR, Lioubin MN, Purchio AF: Site-directed mutagenesis of cysteine residues in the pro region of the transforming growth factor beta 1 precursor. Expression and characterization of mutant proteins. *J Biol Chem* 264(23):13660-13664, 1989.
- Byass P: The global burden of liver disease: a challenge for methods and for public health. BMC Med 12:159, 2014.
- Delire B, Starkel P, Leclercq I: Animal Models for Fibrotic Liver Diseases: What We Have, What We Need, and What Is under Development. *J Clin Transl Hepatol* 3(1):53-66, 2015.
- Desmouliere A: Factors influencing myofibroblast differentiation during wound healing and fibrosis. *Cell Biol Int* 19(5):471-476, 1995.
- Dewidar B, Soukupova J, Fabregat I, Dooley S: TGF-β in Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation and Liver Fibrogenesis: Updated. *Current Pathobiology Reports* 3(4):291-305, 2015.



- Doyle A, McGarry MP, Lee NA, Lee JJ: The construction of transgenic and gene knockout/knockin mouse models of human disease. *Transgenic Res* 21(2):327-349, 2012.
- Faccioli LAP, Dias ML, Paranhos BA, Dos Santos Goldenberg RC: Liver cirrhosis: An overview of experimental models in rodents. *Life Sci* 301:120615, 2022.
- Hall BE, Zheng C, Swaim WD, Cho A, Nagineni CN, Eckhaus MA, et al.: Conditional overexpression of TGF-beta1 disrupts mouse salivary gland development and function. *Lab Invest* 90(4):543-555, 2010.
- Jiang C, Li P, Ruan X, Ma Y, Kawai K, Suemizu H, et al.: Comparative Transcriptomics Analyses in Livers of Mice, Humans, and Humanized Mice Define Human-Specific Gene Networks. *Cells* 9(12), 2020.
- Kanzler S, Lohse AW, Keil A, Henninger J, Dienes HP, Schirmacher P, et al.: TGF-beta1 in liver fibrosis: an inducible transgenic mouse model to study liver fibrogenesis. *Am J Physiol* 276(4):G1059-1068, 1999.
- Kisseleva T, Brenner D: Molecular and cellular mechanisms of liver fibrosis and its regression. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 18(3):151-166, 2021.
- Koyama Y, Xu J, Liu X, Brenner DA: New Developments on the Treatment of Liver Fibrosis. *Dig Dis* 34(5):589-596, 2016.
- Lampreht Tratar U, Horvat S, Cemazar M: Transgenic Mouse Models in Cancer Research. Front Oncol 8:268, 2018.

Lee UE, Friedman SL: Mechanisms of hepatic fibrogenesis. Best Pract Res Clin



Gastroenterol 25(2):195-206, 2011.

- Lee YS, Jeong WI: Retinoic acids and hepatic stellate cells in liver disease. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 27 Suppl 2:75-79, 2012.
- Liedtke C, Luedde T, Sauerbruch T, Scholten D, Streetz K, Tacke F, et al.: Experimental liver fibrosis research: update on animal models, legal issues and translational aspects. *Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair* 6(1):19, 2013.
- Mederacke I, Hsu CC, Troeger JS, Huebener P, Mu X, Dapito DH, et al.: Fate tracing reveals hepatic stellate cells as dominant contributors to liver fibrosis independent of its aetiology. *Nat Commun* 4:2823, 2013.
- Meng XM, Nikolic-Paterson DJ, Lan HY: TGF-beta: the master regulator of fibrosis. *Nat Rev Nephrol* 12(6):325-338, 2016.
- Nagatsuma K, Hayashi Y, Hano H, Sagara H, Murakami K, Saito M, et al.: Lecithin: retinol acyltransferase protein is distributed in both hepatic stellate cells and endothelial cells of normal rodent and human liver. *Liver Int* 29(1):47-54, 2009.
- Popov Y, Schuppan D: Targeting liver fibrosis: strategies for development and validation of antifibrotic therapies. *Hepatology* 50(4):1294-1306, 2009.
- Ray K: Liver: hepatic stellate cells hold the key to liver fibrosis. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 11(2):74, 2014.
- Ross AC, Zolfaghari R: Regulation of hepatic retinol metabolism: perspectives from studies on vitamin A status. *J Nutr* 134(1):269S-275S, 2004.

Samuel SK, Hurta RA, Kondaiah P, Khalil N, Turley EA, Wright JA, et al.: Autocrine



induction of tumor protease production and invasion by a metallothioneinregulated TGF-beta 1 (Ser223, 225). *EMBO J* 11(4):1599-1605, 1992.

- Walton KL, Johnson KE, Harrison CA: Targeting TGF-beta Mediated SMAD Signaling for the Prevention of Fibrosis. *Front Pharmacol* 8:461, 2017.
- Weiler-Normann C, Herkel J, Lohse AW: Mouse models of liver fibrosis. *Z Gastroenterol* 45(1):43-50, 2007.
- Williams R: Global challenges in liver disease. *Hepatology* 44(3):521-526, 2006.
- Wu J, Zern MA: Hepatic stellate cells: a target for the treatment of liver fibrosis. *Journal* of Gastroenterology 35(9):665-672, 2000.
- Zhang CY, Yuan WG, He P, Lei JH, Wang CX: Liver fibrosis and hepatic stellate cells: Etiology, pathological hallmarks and therapeutic targets. World J Gastroenterol 22(48):10512-10522, 2016.
- Zolfaghari R, Ross AC: Lecithin:retinol acyltransferase from mouse and rat liver. CDNA cloning and liver-specific regulation by dietary vitamin a and retinoic acid. *J Lipid Res* 41(12):2024-2034, 2000.



### **ABSTRACT (IN KOREAN)**

## LRAT promoter 를 이용한 간성상세포 특이적인

### TGFβ1 의 liver fibrosis 동물 모델 구축

<지도교수 조은애산드라>

연세대학교 대학원 응용생명과학과

#### 이 재 은

간섬유화는 만성 간 손상에 의해 발생하는 일반적인 결과로, 사이토카인과 같은 다양한 염증 인자에 의해 활성화된 간성상세포(HSC, Hepatic stellate cell)가 근섬유아세포로 전환되면서 흉터 조직 형성이 유도되는 증상이다. 간섬유화 발생기전에서 간성상세포는 TGFβ1 과 같은 사이토카인에 의해 활성화되며, 간성상세포의 활성으로 다량의 세포 외 기질(ECM, Extracellular matrix)이 분비되어 섬유화가 유도된다.



레티널 에스테르는 소장에서 흡수되어 간세포로 이동하여 레티놀로 전환되며, 레티놀 결합 단백질 4 (RBP4)에 결합해 레티놀-RBP4 복합체를 형성한다. 이 후, 레티놀은 휴지기의 간성상세포에서 레시틴-레티놀 아실 트랜스퍼 레이스 (LRAT)의 작용에 의해 다시 에스테르화되어 지질방울 (LD)에 장기적으로 저장된다. 이러한 간에서의 레티놀 대사측면에서 볼 때, LRAT 가 간 세포 중 특히 간성상세포에 특이적으로 다량 존재하기에 간성상세포의 마커로 적용할 수 있으며, 동물 모델에서 휴지기의 간성상세포를 식별하는 역할을 수행할 수 있음을 의미한다.

따라서 본 연구자는 간성상세포가 간섬유화를 유발하는 핵심 세포이며 LRAT 로 간성상세포를 표적 할 수 있다는 것에 주목하였다. 본 연구에서는 간성상세포에서 특이적으로 작동하는 LRAT promoter 중 가장 활성이 높은 부위를 선정하고, LRAT promoter 활성화에 의해 TGFβ1 이 발현되는 시스템을 개발하여 생체 외 실험에서 간성상세포 특이적으로 TGFβ1 이 발현됨을 확인하고, 개발한 시스템에 의해 TGFβ1 에 의한 간섬유화가 유도되는 마우스 질병 모델을 수립하고자 하였다.

먼저 LRAT promoter 를 이용한 간섬유화 유도 벡터를 제작하였다. 간성상세포 기원인 Lx2 세포주에서, LRAT promoter 를 c-terminal 영역에서부터 크기 별로 발현 효율을 비교하여 가장 높은 발현을 보인 LRAT-400을 최종 promoter 로 선정하였다. Tet-on system 에 의해 doxycycline 을

34



처리하였을 때 LRAT promoter 가 작동되도록 설계하였고, TGFβ1 의 2CS 돌연변이 형태를 융합시켜 LRAT promoter 가 작동되었을 때 TGFβ1 이 과발현되도록 벡터를 구성하였다.

간성상세포기원인 Lx2 세포주의 경우 LRAT promoter 가 작동함에 따라 TGFβ1 발현이 증가하였으나, 간성상세포가 아닌 일반 간세포기원의 HepG2 와 Hep3B 세포주에서는 LRAT promoter 가 작동하지 않아 TGFβ1 발현에 변화가 유의미하지 않은 수준으로 나타났다. 각 세포주에 LRAT promoter 를 유도한 후 수득한 상등액으로 분석하였을 때, HepG2 와 Hep3B 에서는 변화가 없고, Lx2 특이적으로 3TP-lux 가 증가하며, TGFβ1 의 다운스트림으로 잘 알려진 PAI-1 또한 증가하였다. TGFβ1 에 의한 섬유화 유도 여부를 분석하였을 때, 역시 Lx2 세포에서만 특이적으로 섬유화 마커들의 유의미한 증가를 보였다.

마우스 생체 내 실험으로 LRAT promoter 의 작동을 유도하였을 때 간 내부에서 TGFβ1 의 발현이 관찰되었고, 그로 인한 섬유화 유도를 α-SMA 로 분석하였다.

이는 마우스 간섬유화 모델 제작의 새로운 방식을 제안하며, 간성상세포를 표적함으로써 섬유화 유도를 증가하여 섬유화 억제 약물 스크리닝에 효과적인 동물 모델로 사용할 수 있을 것으로 사료된다.

핵심어: 간섬유화, LRAT, 간성상세포, TGFβ1, 마우스 모델.